FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
9/11/2019 4:12 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/12/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 51427-3-II

97642-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERESA HARBOTTLE, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JOHN F. HARBOTTLE, III, deceased,

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN E. BRAUN, M.D. and JANE DOE BRAUN, and their marital community,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John R. Connelly, Jr., WSBA #12183 Nathan P. Roberts, WSBA #40457 Connelly Law Offices, PLLC 2301 North 30th Street Tacoma, WA 98403 (253) 593-5100

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Teresa Harbottle, the personal representative of the Estate of John F. Harbottle III, asks the Court to review the published Division I decision terminating review identified in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals filed its published opinion on August 28, 2019. A copy of that opinion is in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-23.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where a treating physician was aware of a patient's possible deadly coronary disease and had not ruled it out as an explanation for his symptoms, did Division II err in upholding the dismissal of the patient's RCW 7.70.050 informed consent claim merely because the patient also pleaded a theory of medical negligence for misdiagnosis under RCW 7.70.040 against that physician?
- 2. Where the physician defendant lied under oath in interrogatory answers and in his deposition, did Division II err in upholding the trial court's refusal to allow impeachment of that physician under ER 608, particularly where the physician's credibility was central to the case as the physician was the only living witness to his interactions with the decedent?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division II's recitation of the facts is largely correct, but internally inconsistent as to Dr. Kevin Braun's treatment of John Harbottle's

coronary disease.¹ Several points bear emphasis.

John Harbottle III saw Dr. Kevin Braun, his primary care physician, on June 28, 2011 after experiencing two months of chest pains and shortness of breath. CP 59, 784. Dr. Braun knew that John was over 50 year old, male, and had a history of elevated lipids in his blood, all risk factors for heart disease. CP 291, 320. Braun performed an EKG which showed a "partial or complete right bundle branch block and possibly some right heart, right ventricular hypertrophy," results that were not normal. CP 323. He determined that John should have a stress test on a treadmill to further investigate his heart condition; he also referred him to a cardiologist to rule out cardiac problems. CP 264. When John did not complete the stress test, Dr. Braun never discussed the importance of getting that test, even when John continued to complain of shortness of breath upon exertion nine months later, or the risks associated with foregoing the test. CP 266-70, 74. An autopsy would later show that he suffered from "severe atherosclerotic occlusion (blockage) of three major coronary arteries." CP 397. One of the Estate's experts testified that these conditions occur over time and were almost certainly present when Dr.

¹ Under CR 56(e), in reviewing the order on summary judgment *de novo*, Division II should have taken the facts, and reasonable inferences from those facts, in light most favorable to the Estate as the non-moving party on summary judgment. *Dowler v. Clover Park Sch. Dist. No. 400*, 172 Wn.2d 471, 484, 258 P.3d 676 (2011). It did not do so.

Braun first treated John for chest pains and other symptoms of heart disease 11 months before his death. CP 334.²

Braun subsequently treated John's problem as heartburn, gastroesophageal reflux disorder ("GERD"), and never followed up on the stress test he had scheduled with a cardiologist. CP 266-67. John consented to the course of treatment being recommended by Dr. Braun, which focused exclusively on heartburn, because he was not advised of the serious risk in failing to pursue other treatment options. Consequently, he relied on Braun and stopped exercising, made some changes to his diet, and accepted a prescription for Prilosec to treat the GERD. CP 191.

John saw Braun four more times, including a visit on March 14, 2012, just two months before his death, in which Harbottle complained of shortness of breath on exertion, another symptom of heart disease. CP 269-70. Dr. Braun failed to follow up on John's original symptoms of chest pain during any one of these four visits, including contacts with the cardiologist to whom he referred John. CP 270, 274. He never counseled John about the risk of treating his symptoms solely as GERD, while ignoring and failing to test for a potential cardiac cause. CP 191.

² The Estate's experts also testified that Braun's failure to secure John's informed consent proximately caused his death. Dr. Howard Miller testified that more likely than not, the stress test would have come back positive, due to the autopsy which revealed *severe* coronary occlusions, as well as Harbottle's reported symptoms. CP 334. Dr. Jerrold Glassman also testified that the stress test would have come back positive and would have led to medical or surgical intervention. CP 307.

Harbottle died on May 24, 2012 from his untreated coronary artery disease. CP 71, 402-03.

Division II's opinion glosses over critical factual points, in effect, adopting Braun's version of the events over Harbottle's version. Op. at 2-3, 14-15.

First, this was not a case where the physician was unaware of the patient's significantly risky condition. Dr. Braun was fully aware of the existence of John's possible coronary disease. John complained of chest pains and shortness of breath; he had elevated lipids in his blood; his EKG showed some abnormalities; he continued to complain of shortness of breath upon exertion well after Dr. Braun treated him for chest pains with heartburn medication. A jury could have reasonably inferred Braun's awareness of John's heart condition based on the fact that he ordered a stress test and referred John to a cardiologist in the first place.

Second, a high risk condition was present, making this condition a material matter for John's informed decision about treatment. Heart disease is obviously serious. Dr. Jerrold Glassman, a cardiologist, testified that Braun should have treated John's heart disease and secured the performance of a stress test by a cardiologist. CP 291, 306-07. Similarly, Dr. Howard Miller, a family practice physician in Renton and former Assistant Clinical Professor of Family Medicine for the University of

Washington, testified that Braun should not have allowed the stress test to be cancelled, and that he should have followed-up with John in the subsequent months regarding the need for the test (and the obvious fact that it had not yet been completed). CP 329-31. Dr. Miller testified that John's March 14, 2012 symptoms were additional, significant signs of possible heart disease. CP 331.

Third, there was a simple, inexpensive alternative diagnostic procedure to conclusively determine the presence or absence of heart disease – the stress test.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) An Informed Consent Claim under RCW 7.70.050 Was
Available to Harbottle's Estate Even Where Misdiagnosis
by Dr. Braun Was Also Pleaded

Division II's opinion is contrary to this Court's precedent on informed consent and misdiagnosis,³ as well as its own. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

RCW 7.70.040 governs medical negligence claims. *See* Appendix. It applies to misdiagnosis claims specifically.⁴

Petition for Review - 5

³ The jury was instructed on a medical negligence failure to diagnose claim in Instruction 6. CP 1350. *See* Appendix.

⁴ E.g., Keogan v. Holy Family Hospital, 95 Wn.2d 306, 622 P.2d 1246 (1980) (reversing summary judgment on physician's misdiagnosis of heart disease and failure to administer an EKG test for it); Gustav v. Seattle Urological Associates, 90 Wn. App. 785, 954 P.2d 319, review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1023 (1998) (failure of physician to diagnose

Additionally, under principles of "patient sovereignty," a physician has a separate fiduciary duty to inform a patient of abnormalities in the patient's body. RCW 7.70.050. See Appendix.⁵ In particular, the statute requires the physician to advise the patient of "material risks." Under that statute, material facts as those "a reasonably prudent person in the position of the patient or his or her representative would attach significance to [in] deciding whether or not to submit to the proposed treatment." RCW 7.70.050(2).6 Unfortunately, Division II's opinion seems to step back from this broad duty to disclose material facts, suggesting that a physician only needs to advise a patient of "serious" risks. Op. at 8. That is not the correct standard for informed consent. The patient is entitled to information material to her/his health care decision making.

cancer); Estate of Stalkup v. Vancouver Clinic, Inc., P.S., 145 Wn. App. 572, 187 P.3d 291 (2008) (jury could find physician negligent for failure to diagnose coronary artery disease or to refer patient to specialist).

⁵ Miller v. Kennedy, 11 Wn. App. 272, 281-82, 522 P.2d 852 (1974), aff'd, 85 Wn.2d 151, 530 P.2d 334 (1975). "The patient has the right to chart his own destiny, and the doctor must supply the patient with the material facts the patient will need in order to intelligently chart that destiny with dignity." Id. at 282. This Court deems Miller to be "[t]he seminal case on informed consent in this state." Smith v. Shannon, 100 Wn.2d 26, 30, 666 P.2d 351 (1983) (citing Miller, 11 Wn. App. 272). The Legislature's codification of informed consent claims in RCW 7.70.050 was "intended to adopt the elements as they appeared in Miller." Anaya Gomez v. Sauerwein, 180 Wn.2d 610, 617, 331 P.3d 19, 22 (2014) (citation omitted).

⁶ See also, Miller, 11 Wn. App. at 282 ("The scope of the duty to disclose information concerning the treatment proposed, other treatments, and the risks of each course of action and of no treatment at all is measured by patient's need to know."). As the Miller court summarized, "Would the patient as a human being consider this item in choosing his or her course of treatment?" Id. at 282-83.

In a series of decisions, beginning with *Gates v. Jensen*, 92 Wn.2d 246, 250, 595 P.2d 919 (1979), this Court has addressed the pleading of informed consent and misdiagnosis theories in the same case. The *Gates* court held that informed consent and misdiagnosis claims could be present in the same case and determined that the duty to inform a patient arises *throughout* the physician's treatment and is not confined to the post-diagnosis period.

In *Backlund v. Univ. of Wash.*, 137 Wn.2d 651, 975 P.2d 950 (1999), this Court reaffirmed *Gates*, but held that in a band of misdiagnosis cases, a claim for lack of informed consent was unavailable:

A physician who misdiagnoses the patient's condition, and is therefore unaware of an appropriate category of treatments or treatment alternatives, may properly be subject to a negligence action where such misdiagnosis breaches the standard of care, but may not be subject to an action based on failure to secure informed consent.

Backlund, 137 Wn.2d at 661. But, the Court explained that this policy extends only to situations where the misdiagnosed condition is "unknown to the physician." *Id.* at 661 n.2.

In *Anaya Gomez*, the Court held that "when a health care provider rules out a particular diagnosis based on the circumstances surrounding a patient's condition, including the patient's own reports, there is no duty to inform the patient on treatment options pertaining to a ruled out

diagnosis." *Id.* at 623.⁷

Division II in *Flyte v. Summit View Clinic*, 183 Wn. App. 559, 333 P.3d 566 (2014) recognized that a physician's duty to obtain a patient's informed consent to treatment may arise during a diagnostic phase of treatment. Division II reaffirmed that a patient's right to know is not confined to the choice of treatment determined when the condition is *definitively* diagnosed. *Id.* at 572. It is only where the physician is *entirely unaware* of the patient's condition because of the physician's misdiagnosis that the patient may not pursue an informed consent claim. *Id.* at 575-76. Thus, Division II concluded that the patient was entitled to disclosure of flu treatment alternatives where the clinic had not conclusively been diagnosed with the flu and an instruction requiring a conclusive diagnosis was error.

The *Flyte* court was correct in stating that the "statute, on its face, does not impose the requirement ... that the duty to disclose arises only after the provider has diagnosed a particular condition." *Flyte,* 183 Wn. App. at 574. Under patient sovereignty, the physician must disclose

_

⁷ See also, Burnet v. Spokane Ambulance, 54 Wn. App. 162, 772 P.2d 1027, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1005 (1989); Bays v. St. Luke's Hospital, 63 Wn. App. 876, 825 P.2d 319, review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1008 (1992); Vinick v. State, 183 Wn. App. 1042, 2014 WL 4987975 (2014); Estate of Eikum v. Joseph, 196 Wn. App. 1005, 2016 WL 5342411 (2016), review denied, 187 Wn.2d 1024 (2017); Estate of Hensley v. Community Health Ass'n, 198 Wn. App. 1036, 2017 WL 1334433, review denied, 189 Wn.2d 1017 (2017).

material risks of treatment alternatives, including no treatment, to enable the patient to exercise self-determination with regard to medical decisions. Where the physician knows of a possible diagnosis from the patient's symptoms, but misapprehends its significance for the patient, concluding that the symptoms are explained by another diagnosis, the physician must still advise the patient of the material risks known to him or her and inform the patient of the alternate diagnoses so that the patient can make an informed decision about a course of treatment; that is consistent with principles of patient self-determination that lie at the core of informed consent. An informed consent action ensures that patients like John (even those who may seem healthy on paper) can "make an informed decision on the course of which future medical care to take." *Gates*, 92 Wn.2d at 251.

Ultimately, Division II's published opinion simply cannot be reconciled with *Gates/Backlund/Anaya Gomez/Flyte*. Its opinion treated the facts in a light most favorable to Dr. Braun in concluding that he ruled out John's coronary condition, when that simply was *not true*. For example, despite the court's own recitation of the facts and the record here, the opinion asserts that "Braun's assessment of Harbottle's condition over time made him believe more firmly that he suffered from GERD and not coronary disease." (op. at 16) and "The record does not reflect that

Braun ever knew of Harbottle's condition." (*id.*). Those statements are obviously *wrong*, particularly if the court viewed the facts in a light most favorable to the Estate, as it should have.⁸ And the court's further assertion that "The record in this case reflects that Braun did not know of Harbottle's coronary condition when he scheduled the stress test." (op. at 17) frankly makes no sense. Obviously, Braun was aware that John had a possible coronary condition or *he would not have ordered the stress test or directed him to a cardiologist.*⁹

Having not ruled our coronary disease, Braun was obligated under RCW 7.70.050 to advise John of its obvious significance to his course of

⁸ Nothing in Dr. Braun's own records supports Division II's statements. *See, e.g.*, CP 784 (describing his impressions as "likely GERD"). Rather, Braun performed an EKG, chest x-ray, and determined that John still needed to meet with a cardiologist and perform a stress test. Thus, unlike *Anaya Gomez*, Dr. Braun recognized that John needed more tests in order to rule out heart disease. This diagnosis process, which lasted less than a year before John's untimely death, was incomplete, could have included further tests, and never definitively ruled out heart disease as a cause of John's symptoms. Whether a physician has ruled out a particular disease is, in any event, a *question of fact. Flyte*, 183 Wn. App. at 579-80.

⁹ Division II emphasized the fact that John decided to cancel the stress test. Op. at 3, 14-15. But Division II's blame-shifting underscored its misapplication of the law of informed consent. The legal question was not whether John made the decision to cancel the test. Rather, it was whether a jury could find that his decision was *informed*. Did Dr. Braun disclose the material facts—the information that "a reasonably prudent person in the position of the patient or his or her representative would attach significance." *Flyte*, 183 Wn. App. at 573 (quoting RCW 7.70.050(2)). Specifically in the diagnostic phase of treatment, this Court explained, "The existence of an abnormal condition in one's body, the presence of a high risk of disease, and the existence of alternative diagnostic procedures to conclusively determine the presence or absence of that disease are all facts which a patient must know in order to make an informed decision on the course which future medical care will take." *Gates*, 92 Wn.2d at 250-51. By failing to inquire whether a jury could find John made an *informed* decision when he chose to cancel the stress test and pursue the treatment for GERD, Division II's opinion conflicted with the materiality test set out in RCW 7.70.050, *Gates*, and *Flyte*.

care. A jury could have found that a reasonable patient in John's position would have wanted such material information in order to make an informed health care decision. That is precisely what patient sovereignty means. Division II got it wrong, departing from this Court's pertinent precedents and its own recent decision in *Flyte*.

Division II accepted Dr. Braun's argument that it was not "his role as a doctor" to "rule out' a cardiovascular cause of [his patient's] chest pain." Op. at 16. Division II also heavily weighed Dr. Braun's claim that he believed coronary disease was "very unlikely." Op. at 17. Accordingly, the court believed that Dr. Braun's duty of disclosure did not require him to "obtain informed consent *not* to treat any condition that is not definitively 'ruled out." Op. at 17. Never before have Washington courts held that physicians do not have a duty to disclose material information about a potentially fatal disease which the physician has definitively not ruled out as an explanation for a patient's symptoms.

Dr. Braun's duty of disclosure required him to discuss the risk of coronary disease with John so that he could make informed decisions about his own life. Division II had the applicable principle backward. The issue was not Dr. Braun's "role as a doctor," op. at 16, the issue was John's rights as a patient.

Dr. Braun did not dispute that he knew that John had a risk of

coronary disease and that the disease could be fatal if not treated. Yet Division II held John had no right to know about that risk, as a matter of law, because the risk was "highly unlikely," according to Dr. Braun. Op. at 17. But the remoteness of a risk is not dispositive by itself in determining whether a jury question is presented. Indeed, Division II pointed to nothing in RCW 7.70.050 or this Court's precedents holding that materiality is based solely on the numerical probability of a risk. Division II seemed to believe that anything below 50% need not be discussed with the patient.

Under the statute, "materiality" focuses on what a reasonable patient would want to know, and it incorporates concepts both of a risk's numerical probability and its magnitude. Here, even if the possibility of fatal coronary heart disease were only 1%, a jury should have been allowed to conclude that a reasonable patient would have wanted to know about that possibility, to know about the available diagnostic procedures to definitively rule out that possibility, and to know about the risks of forgoing further testing. It is undisputed that Dr. Braun never disclosed any such material information to John, and thus a reasonable jury could find that John did not make an informed decision when he canceled the stress test.

That the issue of informed consent and misdiagnosis recurs in

cases is a testimonial to the fact that review by this Court is necessary in order to establish a definitive rule. This Court should grant review to reaffirm the principles set forth in *Gates/Backlund/Anaya Gomez/Flyte*. RAP 13.4(b)(1-2).

(2) The Trial Court Erred in Refusing to Address Dr. Braun's Willful Nondisclosure in Discovery of Past Instances of Professional Misconduct

In a case where the only other witness to the events is dead, Dr. Braun's credibility was a vital question for the jury both as to misdiagnosis and informed consent, ¹⁰ Division II condoned depriving the Estate of its right to impeach Braun's testimony for his blatant lies under oath in discovery. That decision is contrary to precedent and constitutes unsound public policy. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(2, 4).

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