FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/11/2019 3:00 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97642-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

TERESA HARBOTTLE, individually and as Personal Representative of the Estate of JOHN F. HARBOTTLE, III, deceased,

Petitioner,

v.

KEVIN E. BRAUN, M.D. and JANE DOE BRAUN, and their marital community,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mary H. Spillane, WSBA #11981 Jennifer D. Koh, WSBA #25464 Attorneys for Respondents FAIN ANDERSON VANDERHOEF ROSENDAHL O'HALLORAN SPILLANE, PLLC 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4750 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 749-0094

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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Estate cites RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) in seeking review of the affirmance of the dismissal of the informed consent claim, and RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) in seeking review of the affirmance of the evidentiary ruling. *See Pet.* at 5, 13, 20. Because Division II's decision is not in conflict with any decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2), and does not involve any issue of substantial public interest so as to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), the Estate's petition for review should be denied.

A. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of the Dismissal of the Estate's Informed Consent Claim Is Not in Conflict with Any Decision of this Court or of the Court of Appeals.

The Estate argues, *Pet.* at 8-13, that Division II's affirmance of the dismissal of its informed consent claim is in conflict with "*Gates/Backlund/Anaya Gomez/Flyte*." It incorrectly claims that those decisions prohibit negligent misdiagnosis and informed consent claims based on the same set of facts only when a physician is "entirely unaware" of the patient's condition or has "definitively" "ruled out" "a potentially fatal disease," and that here Dr. Braun was "aware" of Mr. Harbottle's risk of coronary artery disease and did not "definitively rule out" heart disease.

First, Division II's decision is not in conflict with, but rather is based upon, *Backlund* and *Anaya Gomez. See Slip. Op.* at 8-17. As this Court

ruled in Backlund, 137 Wn.2d at 661:

A physician who misdiagnoses the patient's condition, and is therefore unaware of an appropriate category of treatments or treatment alternatives, may properly be subject to a negligence action where such misdiagnosis breaches the standard of care, but may not be subject to an action based on failure to secure informed consent.

"In misdiagnosis cases, this rule is necessary to avoid imposing double liability on the provider for the same alleged misconduct." *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 618 (citing *Backlund*, 137 Wn.2d at 661-62 n.2)

Simply put, a health care provider who believes the patient does not have a particular disease cannot be expected to inform the patient about the unknown disease or possible treatments for it. In such situations, a negligence claim for medical malpractice will provide the patient compensation if the provider failed to adhere to the standard of care in misdiagnosing or failing to diagnose the patient's condition.

Anaya Gomez, 180 Wn.2d at 618.

Here, because Dr. Braun was unaware of any actual abnormality in Mr. Harbottle's heart, and based on Mr. Harbottle's clinical condition, believed that a cardiac cause of his symptoms was highly unlikely, the rule in *Anaya Gomez* and *Backlund* against double liability on the same set of facts applies, as the courts below correctly concluded.

Second, Division II's decision is not in conflict with *Gates*. Indeed, the Estate's reliance on *Gates* is misplaced, because, as Division II properly recognized, *Slip Op.* at 9-12, this Court in *Anaya Gomez* and *Backlund* clarified the *Gates* holding and *Gates* is distinguishable on its facts. On the

unique facts in *Gates*, this Court recognized that a duty to inform may arise "during the process of diagnosis" in a misdiagnosis case if there is "an informed decision for the patient to make about" a "treatment choice." *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 623. In *Gates*, based on the patient's "consistently high eye pressure readings" pointing to "higher risk for glaucoma over a *two year* period" and a "borderline test result," and the availability of two "simple, inexpensive, and risk free" "diagnostic tests for glaucoma," the ophthalmologist had a choice to put to the patient whether to do additional testing. *Id.* at 621 (citing *Gates*, 92 Wn.2d at 248).

In contrast, even though the patient in *Anaya Gomez* was at risk for infections and had an initial test result indicating a yeast blood infection, the physician, based on the patient's physical condition and symptoms that "indicated that she did *not* have a blood infection," ruled out a diagnosis of yeast and determined that there was nothing further to diagnose. *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 622. Concluding that those facts did not give rise to an informed consent duty, this Court rejected the plaintiff's claim that the question turned on the physician's "*knowledge* about the "positive blood test," *id.* at 621 (italics added), noting a difference between "suspecting" a patient has some kind of infection and "knowing" that a patient has a particular infection, *id.* at 621 n.5, and recognizing that "the medical realities surrounding the circumstances of the case" cannot be ignored, *id.*

at 622. Given the physician's *belief* based on the patient's complete clinical presentation that the test result was "likely erroneous," the physician had "nothing to put to the patient in the way of an intelligent and informed choice" about treatment for a blood infection. *Id.* at 622.

As Division II properly recognized, *Slip Op.* at 15-16, this case is factually similar to *Anaya Gomez* and easily distinguished from *Gates*. Based on his observations of Mr. Harbottle's complete clinical condition in June 2011, and confirmed by Mr. Harbottle's clinical presentation in July and August 2011, Dr. Braun *believed* that Mr. Harbottle "suffered from GERD and not coronary disease" and thus "did not follow up" on further diagnostic testing such that he never "knew" the actual condition of Mr. Harbottle's heart. *Slip Op.* at 16. Unlike the kind of circumstances relating to glaucoma presented in *Gates*, here Mr. Harbottle lacked many major risk factors for coronary artery disease, lived a healthy lifestyle, and his clinical

_

⁷ The Estate has never identified any evidence to contradict Dr. Braun's testimony as to his belief about the cause of Mr. Harbottle's symptoms; it only identified evidence to support its claim that Dr. Braun's belief was unreasonable or unfounded. For example, the Estate emphasizes evidence such as (1) its expert's opinion that the EKG showed a "right bundle branch block" that should have been investigated, *Pet.* at 2; CP 323; (2) the autopsy finding of atherosclerotic heart disease, *Pet.* at 2; CP 397; and (3) its experts' opinions that a stress test in 2011 or 2012 would have been positive for coronary artery disease, *Pet.* at 2-3; CP 307, 334. Contrary to the Estate's claim, *Pet.* at 2, 4, such evidence does not create a fact question as to Dr. Braun's belief that Mr. Harbottle's symptoms did not have a cardiac cause or allow an inference that "Dr. Braun was fully aware of the existence of [Mr. Harbottle's] possible coronary disease." Instead, such evidence raises an issue of fact only as to whether Dr. Braun's belief was reasonable or whether he should have believed that Mr. Harbottle's symptoms had a cardiac cause – a question that is only relevant to a medical negligence claim for misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose.

condition over time, which improved with treatment for GERD, was *inconsistent* with coronary disease, and the coronary testing that Dr. Braun had already completed – which admittedly did not include a stress test – did not raise any concerns. *Slip Op.* at 15-16.

Division II correctly concluded that, just as the actual infection in the patient's blood was "unknown" to the physician in *Anaya Gomez*, the actual condition of Mr. Harbottle's heart was "unknown" to Dr. Braun, despite Dr. Braun's initial inclusion in his differential diagnosis of what he believed to be an unlikely cardiac cause of Mr. Harbottle's symptoms. *Slip Op.* at 16; *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 621-23. Consistent with this Court's opinions in *Anaya Gomez* and *Backlund*, Division II therefore correctly concluded that the general rule against double liability in misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose cases, rather than the limited exception of *Gates* applies here. *Slip Op.* at 15-16; *see Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 621-23.

Third, Division II's decision is also not in conflict with *Flyte*. As Division II correctly recognized, *Slip Op.* at 16-17, *Flyte* does not support the Estate's claim. Although the court in *Flyte* recognized that the informed consent duty examined in *Gates* and *Anaya Gomez* "is not confined to the period after a conclusive diagnosis has been made," *Flyte*, 183 Wn. App. at 580, it did not hold or suggest that a conclusive diagnosis was a condition precedent to application of the rule against double liability.

In *Flyte*, because the plaintiff did not allege both medical negligence and lack of informed consent based on the same facts, the rule against double liability described in *Anaya Gomez* and *Backlund* did not apply. *Flyte*, 183 Wn. App. at 576. In fact, the plaintiff in *Flyte* "never argued" that the defendant violated the standard of care by misdiagnosing or failing to diagnose the patient's actual condition, but claimed that it breached the standard of care by failing to consider the possibility of a specific strain of influenza and offer an available prophylactic treatment – a treatment that, by definition, did not depend on or require a prior definitive diagnosis. *Id.* The informed consent claim was based on facts separate from a failure to diagnose – that is, the failure to inform the patient that public health alerts described the influenza strain as a global pandemic and recommended use of the prophylactic treatment that was actually available. *Id.*

To the extent there was a factual dispute in *Flyte* over whether the physician "conclusively" ruled out a diagnosis, that dispute arose because (1) the physician admitted that he had no independent memory of the visit and testified inconsistently with his own chart notes, and (2) the trial court had erroneously instructed the jury to consider the plaintiff's informed consent claim only if it found that the physician "had conclusively diagnosed influenza," a fact that the plaintiff "had never alleged." *Id.* at 580.

Finally, nothing in Anaya Gomez, Backlund, Gates, or Flyte

supports the Estate's claim, *Pet.* at 9-11, that a health care provider must "definitively rule out" a particular condition in order for the rule against double liability to apply. As Division II correctly observed, requiring a physician to "obtain informed consent *not* to treat any condition that is not definitively 'ruled out' would 'require health care providers and patients to spend hours going through useless information that will not assist in treating the patient." *Slip Op.* at 17 (quoting *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 623).

Here, like the physician in *Anaya Gomez* who, based on the patient's clinical condition, believed that it was unlikely the patient had a yeast blood infection notwithstanding a positive blood test, Dr. Braun, based on Mr. Harbottle's lack of risk factors, his clinical condition, and his positive response to treatment for GERD, believed that it highly unlikely that Mr. Harbottle's symptoms were due to a cardiac cause. To the extent that conclusion was wrong, the plaintiff had a medical negligence claim for misdiagnosis or a failure to diagnose, but not a duty to obtain informed consent based on the same facts. *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 613. In *Anaya Gomez*, this Court described the physician's action alternatively as "rul[ing] out," "conclud[ing]," and "believ[ing]," but it cannot be said that the physician conclusively or definitively ruled out the possibility of yeast blood infection, and this Court did not hold or suggest that the rule against double liability for failing to obtain informed consent with regard to a

misdiagnosis or failure to diagnose was dependent upon whether the condition at issue had been *definitively* or *conclusively* ruled out. *See e.g.*, *Anaya Gomez*, 180 Wn.2d at 613, 614, 618.

Ultimately, as the Court of Appeals properly recognized, *Slip Op. at* 7, "the facts of this case do not support an informed consent claim."

B. The Court of Appeals' Affirmance of the Exclusion of Evidence of Dr. Braun's Discovery Responses as to Other Patient Complaints Is

Not in Conflict with Any Washington Appellate Decision and Does

Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest.

The Estate incorrectly contends, *Pet.* at 13, that contrary to precedent, by finding no abuse its discretion in excluding the evidence under ER 608(b), Division II has "condoned" the deprivation of its "right to impeach Dr. Braun's testimony" and set "unsound public policy."

First, the Estate ignores the standard of review. As Division II properly recognized, *Slip Op. at* 18-19, the trial court has *broad* discretion to exclude "*nonconviction* evidence" of specific instances of conduct offered under ER 608(b) to impeach a witness's credibility. *Loeffelholz v. C.L.E.A.N.*, 119 Wn. App. 665, 708, 82 P.3d 1199 (2004). A trial court's

⁸ Contrary to the Estate's claim, *Pet.* at 13, the record does not show that the trial court's decision to exclude the challenged evidence under ER 608(b) deprived it of the right to impeach Dr. Braun's testimony. Dr. Braun admitted in deposition that he had no "independent recollection," generally or specifically, of conversations with Mr. Harbottle, but had to rely on medical records, chart notes, and habit and practice. CP 255, 864-85. Nothing in the trial court's ruling precluded the Estate from establishing that at trial. As the Estate has not furnished a transcript of Dr. Braun's trial testimony or the parties' closing arguments, the sufficiency of the Estate's ability to challenge Dr. Braun's credibility or memory cannot be reviewed.

decision to exclude such evidence will be reversed "only if no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did." *State v. Lile*, 188 Wn.2d 766, 783, 398 P.3d 1052 (2017) (quoting *State v. O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d 335, 351, 119 P.3d 806 (2005)). The trial court, when exercising its discretion, "may consider" whether the specific instances of conduct offered are "relevant to the witness' veracity on the stand and ... germane or relevant to the issues presented at trial." *Lile*, 188 Wn.2d at 783 (quoting *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 349). On review, the court assesses whether the trial court's decision was reasonable, but it does not make its "own relevancy determination." *Lile*, 188 Wn.2d at 784.

Second, Division II's decision is not "contrary to" the precedent the Estate cites, *Pet.* at 16-18, such as *York*; *O'Connor*; and *Wilson*. Indeed, Division II cited and relied upon, and/or distinguished, that precedent and more. *See Slip Op.* at 18-22. As Division II properly recognized, *Slip Op.* at 19, *York* does not support the Estate's claim that the trial court erred in granting Dr. Braun's motion to exclude evidence of his discovery responses about unrelated patient complaints. In *York*, the court acknowledged that the normal standard for reversal of a trial court's decision under ER 608(b) is that no reasonable person would have "taken the action pursued by the trial court." *York*, 28 Wn. App. at 36. But, given the "fundamental constitutional right" of a *criminal defendant* to cross-examine witnesses and the

"extra latitude" allowed criminal defendants to challenge the motive or credibility of a prosecution witness "essential to the State's case," the *York* court observed that the *denial or diminution* of that right "calls into question the integrity of the fact-finding process and requires the competing interests be closely examined." *Id.* at 36-37 (citations omitted). Because the *York* trial court allowed the State to "heavily" stress its only eyewitness's "apparent unsullied background" and prevented the defendant from challenging his credibility with evidence of his "only negative characteristics," the *York* court concluded that a new trial was required "as a matter of fundamental fairness." *Id.* at 35-38.

This Court, in *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 350, however, explicitly stated that the result in *York* cannot be read as a rule that "a trial court is constitutionally *required* to admit *any* instance of a key witness's prior misconduct," as such a rule would be contrary to the clear policy choice embodied in ER 608 "grant[ing] trial courts discretion to make such determinations." *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 350. Thus, as Division II properly recognized, *Slip Op.* at 22, *York* does not guarantee the Estate the same extra latitude in cross-examination as that afforded to a criminal defendant. Nor do any of the other cases cited by the Estate.

And, as *O'Connor*, 155 Wn.2d at 350; *Wilson*, 60 Wn. App. at 893; and *York*, 28 Wn. App. at 36, all recognize, there are limits to admissibility

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